

CORPORATIONS ACT 2001
PUBLIC COMPANY

CONSTITUTION OF
SHOOTERS UNION AUSTRALIA Limited

January 2018

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Name of the Company is the name stated in the Schedule.

1.2 The objects of the Company are to;

- 1.2.1 foster and support shooting for recreational, hunting or commercial purposes as a legitimate and legal activity in Australia;
- 1.2.2 educate firearms users in the skills of sports, farm and field shooting;
- 1.2.3 promote healthy shooting competition;
- 1.2.4 promote the safe and responsible use of firearms;
- 1.2.5 operate and manage the ongoing action (if any) stated in the Schedule;
- 1.2.6 promote the particular interest or interests stated in the Schedule.

1.3 Solely for the purpose of carrying out those powers and not otherwise the Company has the power to;

- 1.3.1.1 hold or arrange competitions and provide or contribute towards the provision of prizes, awards and distinctions in connection therewith. Provided that no Member of the Company shall receive any prize, award or distinction of monetary value except as a successful competitor at any competition held or promoted by the Company
- 1.3.1.2 subscribe to become a Member of and co-operate with or amalgamate with any other association or organisation whether incorporated or not whose objects are similar to those of the Company. Provided that the Company shall not subscribe to or support with its funds or amalgamate with any association or organisation which does not prohibit the distribution of its income and property among its Members to an extent at least as great as that imposed on the Company by Rule 2.
- 1.3.1.3 buy sell and deal in all kinds of apparatus and all kinds of provisions liquid and solid required by Members of the Company or persons frequenting the Company's premises.
- 1.3.1.4 purchase, take on, lease or in exchange hire and otherwise acquire any lands, building easement or property, real and personal, and any rights and privileges which may be requisite for the purposes of or capable of being conveniently used in connection with any of the objects of the Company.
- 1.3.1.5 provided that in case the Company shall take or hold any property which may be subject to any trusts the Company shall only deal with the same in such manner as is allowed by law having regard to such trusts.
- 1.3.1.6 enter into any arrangements with any Government or authority Commonwealth, State, Municipal, Local or otherwise that may seem conducive to the Company's objects or any of them and to obtain from any such Government or authority any rights,

privileges and concessions which the Company may think it desirable to obtain; AND to carry out, exercise and comply with any such arrangements, rights, privileges and concessions.

- 1.3.1.7 appoint, employ, remove or suspend such managers, clerks, secretaries, servants, employees and other persons as may be necessary or convenient for the purpose of the Company.
- 1.3.1.8 establish and support or aid in the establishment and support of associations, institutions, funds, trusts and conveniences calculated to benefit employees or past employees of the Company or the dependents or connections of any such persons; AND to grant pensions and allowances; AND to make payments towards insurance and superannuation; AND to subscribe or guarantee money for charitable or benevolent objects or for any public general or useful object.
- 1.3.1.9 construct, improve, maintain, develop, work, manage, carry out, alter or control any houses, buildings, grounds works or conveniences which may seem calculated directly or indirectly to advance the Company's interests and to contribute, to subsidise or otherwise assist and take part in the construction, improvement, maintenance, development, working management, carrying out, alteration or control thereof.
- 1.3.1.10 invest and deal with money of the Company not immediately required in such manner as may be permitted by law for the investment of trust funds.
- 1.3.1.11 borrow or raise or secure the payment of money in such manner as the Company may think fit and to secure the same or repayment or performance of any debt, liability, contract, guarantee or other engagement incurred or to be entered into by the Company in any way in particular by the issue of debentures perpetual or otherwise charged upon all or any of the Company's property (both present and future) and to purchase, redeem or pay off such securities.
- 1.3.1.12 make, draw, accept, endorse, discount, execute and issue promissory notes, bills of exchange, bills of lading and other negotiable or transferable instruments.
- 1.3.2 sell, improve, manage, develop, exchange, lease, dispose of, turn to, account or otherwise deal with all or any part of the property and rights of the Company.
 - 1.3.2.1 take or hold mortgages, liens and charges to secure payment of the purchase price or any unpaid balance of the purchase price of any part of the Company's property of whatsoever kind sold by the Company or any money due to the Company from purchases and others.
 - 1.3.2.2 take any gift of property, whether subject to any special trust or not, for any one or more of the objects of the Company but subject always to any limitation in these Rules.

- 1.3.2.3 take such steps by personal or written appeals, public meetings or otherwise as may from time to time be deemed expedient for the purpose of procuring contributions to the funds of the Company in the shape of donations, annual subscriptions or otherwise or to promote its aims.
- 1.3.2.4 print and publish any newspapers periodicals, books or leaflets that the Company may think desirable for the promotion of its objects.
- 1.3.2.5 purchase and otherwise acquire and undertake all or any part of the property, assets, liabilities and engagements of any one or more of the companies, institutions, societies or associations with which the Company is authorised to amalgamate.
- 1.3.2.6 transfer all or any part of the property assets, liabilities and engagements of the Company to any one or more of the companies, institutions, societies or associations with which the Company is authorised to amalgamate.
- 1.3.2.7 make donations for patriotic or charitable purposes.
- 1.3.2.8 provide a useful and cost effective range of services, facilities and benefits to Members.
- 1.3.2.9 apply for and hold a Club License and any other applicable License or permit under any relevant Liquor Control or Firearms/Weapons Law.
- 1.3.2.10 employ and remunerate employees who may be Members and Directors, including (subject to Rule 2) the right to remunerate Directors.
- 1.3.2.11 exercise any powers that the Company has by having the rights, powers, privileges and legal capacity of a natural person, including performing any act or function which it is authorised or required to do by any law.

PROVIDED that the Company shall not support with its funds any activity or endeavour to impose on or procure to be observed by its Members any requirement or restriction which if a rule of the Company would make it a Trade Union.

1.4 The Company does not have the power to issue shares.

1.5 The Company is a Company Limited by Guarantee.

2 APPLICATION OF INCOME

2.1 The income and property of the Company from wherever derived must be applied solely towards promoting the Company as provided in these rules.

2.2 The Company must not distribute, pay or transfer to the Members directly or indirectly by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise any of the property or income of

the Company;

- 2.2.1 nothing shall prevent the payment in good faith of remuneration to any officers or servants of the Company or to any Member of the Company in return for any services actually rendered to the Company or for goods supplied in the ordinary and usual way of business nor prevent the payment of interest at reasonable and proper commercial rates on money borrowed from any Members of the Company or reasonable and proper rent for premises demised or let by any Member of the Company;
- 2.2.2 a board Member may be paid the remuneration, determined by the Company in General Meeting, for his or her services as a Board Member of the Company together with all travelling and other expenses properly incurred concerning the Company's business;
- 2.2.3 if the Company pursues a charitable purpose then in addition to the restriction stated above the Company must not pay fees to its Directors;
- 2.2.4 if the Company pursues a charitable purpose then no payment to a Member (including a Director) for items referred to in Rule 2.2.1 may be made unless the payment is approved by the Directors.

3 LIABILITY OF MEMBERS

- 3.1 The liability of the Members is limited.
- 3.2 Every Member of the Company undertakes to contribute to the property of the Company in the event of it being wound up while he or she is a Member or within one year after he or she ceases to be a Member for payment of the debts and liabilities of the Company (contracted before he or she ceases to be a Member) and of the costs charges and expenses of winding up and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributories among themselves such amount as may be required not exceeding one hundred dollars (\$100.00).

4 ACCOUNTS

- 4.1 True accounts shall be kept of the sums of money received and expended by the Company and the matter in respect of which such receipt and expenditure takes place of the property credits and liabilities of the Company and subject to any reasonable restrictions as to the time and manner of inspecting the same that may be imposed in accordance with these Rules for the time being in force shall be open to the inspection of the members.
- 4.2 Once at least in every year the accounts of the Company shall be examined by one or more properly qualified Auditor or Auditors who shall report to the members in accordance with the provisions of Corporations Act.

5 MEMBERS

- 5.1 The names, addresses and occupations of the members registering the Company are set out in the Schedule to these Rules.

6 MEMBERSHIP

- 6.1 The persons who register the Company and such other persons as the Board shall admit to membership in accordance with these Rules, shall be Members of the Company.

7 APPLICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP

- 7.1 Every applicant for membership of the Company (other than the persons who obtained registration of the Company shall be proposed by one and seconded by another Member of the Company to both of whom the applicant must be personally known.
- 7.2 The application for membership shall be made in writing signed by the applicant and the proposer and seconder and must be in such form as the Board from time to time prescribes.
- 7.3 At the next meeting of the Board after the receipt of any application for membership such application shall be considered by the Board which must thereupon determine upon the admission or rejection of the applicant. In no case shall the Board be required to give any reason for the rejection of an applicant.
- 7.4 When an applicant has been accepted for membership the Secretary must forthwith send to the applicant written advice of acceptance and a request for payment of the entrance fee and first annual subscription. Upon payment of the entrance fee and first annual subscription, the applicant shall become a Member of the Company provided nevertheless that if such payment is not made within two calendar months after the date of the advice the Board may in its discretion cancel the acceptance.

8 FEES AND SUBSCRIPTION

- 8.1 The Company in general meeting may by resolution prescribe that an entrance fee and/or annual subscription is payable by members.

9 CESSATION OF MEMBERSHIP

- 9.1 Where the Company has prescribed that an annual subscription is payable, if the subscription of a Member shall remain unpaid for a period of two calendar months

after it becomes due then the Member may, after notice of the default sent by the Secretary, be deemed to have resigned at the expiration of 14 days from the date of service of the notice.

9.1.1 A Member who pays all arrears of subscription and such further fee as may be determined by the Board, shall upon payment have his or her membership reinstated.

9.2 A Member may at any time, by giving notice in writing to the Secretary, resign his or her membership of the Company but shall continue to be liable for any annual subscription and all arrears due and unpaid at the date of resignation and for all other monies due by him or her to the Company and in addition for any sum not exceeding one hundred dollars (\$100) for which he is liable as a Member of the Company.

9.3 If any Member shall wilfully refuse or neglect to comply with the provisions of these rules or shall be guilty of any conduct which in the opinion of the Board is prejudicial to the interests of the Company, the Board shall have power by resolution to censure, fine, suspend or expel the Member from the Company.

PROVIDED that at least two weeks before the meeting of the Board, at which such a resolution is passed, the Member shall have had notice of such meeting and of what is alleged against him or her and of the intended resolution and that he or she shall at such meeting, and before the passing of such resolution, have had an opportunity of giving orally or in writing any explanation he or she may think fit AND PROVIDED FURTHER that any such Member may, by notice in writing lodged with the Secretary, at least twenty-four hours before the time for holding the meeting at which the resolution is to be considered by the Board elect to have the question dealt with by the Company in General Meeting. In that event a General Meeting of the Company shall be called for that purpose and if at the meeting such a resolution be passed by a majority of two-thirds of those present and voting (such vote to be taken by ballot) the Member concerned shall be punished accordingly and in the case of a resolution for expulsion the Member shall be expelled.

10 GENERAL MEETINGS

10.1 An Annual General Meeting of the Company shall be held in accordance with the provisions of the Law.

10.2 Any three Directors may whenever they think fit convene a General Meeting.

10.3 General Meetings shall also be convened by the Secretary upon the requisition of not less than 25% of the Members or as provided in the Act.

10.4 The request must:

10.4.1 be in writing;

10.4.2 state any resolution to be proposed at the General Meeting;

10.4.3 be signed by the Members making the request; and

10.4.4 be given to the Company.

- 10.5 Separate copies of a document setting out the request may be used for signing by Members if the wording of the request is identical in each copy.
 - 10.6 The Secretary must call the General Meeting within 14 days after the request is given to the Company. The General Meeting must be held not later than 2 months after the request is given to the Company.
-

11 CALLING A GENERAL MEETING

- 11.1 At least;
 - 11.1.1 28 days notice must be given of a General Meeting at which any election of Directors or other officers is to be held; and
 - 11.1.2 21 days notice must be given of any other General Meeting.
- 11.2 The Company may convene a General Meeting on shorter notice:
 - 11.2.1 in the case of an Annual General Meeting, if all the Members entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting agree beforehand; and
 - 11.2.2 in any other General Meeting, if at least 95% of the Members who are entitled to vote on the resolution agree before.
- 11.3 At least 21 days notice must be given of a General Meeting at which a resolution will be moved to:
 - 11.3.1 remove an auditor;
 - 11.3.2 remove a Director; or
 - 11.3.3 appoint a Director in place of a Director removed.

Notice of every General Meeting must be given to every Member except those Members who have not supplied to the Company an address for the giving of notices to them.

- 11.4 All business shall be special that is transacted at a General Meeting and at an Annual General Meeting with the exception of:
 - 11.4.1 the consideration of the account balance sheets;
 - 11.4.2 the reports of the Directors and Auditors;
 - 11.4.3 the election of office bearers and other Directors in the place of those retiring; and
 - 11.4.4 the appointment of the Auditor (if necessary).
- 11.5 The Company must give its Auditor:
 - 11.5.1 notice of a General Meeting in the same way that a Member is

entitled to receive notice; and

11.5.2 any other communications relating to the General Meeting that a Member is entitled to receive.

11.6 No other person is entitled to receive notices of General Meetings.

11.7 A notice of a General Meeting must:

11.7.1 set out the place, date and time for the General Meeting (and, if the General Meeting is to be held in two or more places, the technology that will be used to facilitate this);

11.7.2 state the general nature of the business of the General Meeting;

11.7.3 if a special resolution is to be proposed at the General Meeting, set out an intention to propose the special resolution and state the resolution; and

11.7.4 if a Member is entitled to appoint a proxy, contain a statement setting out the following information;

- that the Member has right to appoint a proxy; and
- whether or not the proxy needs to be a Member.

11.8 The Company may give the notice of a General Meeting to a Member in any of the ways provided in these rules for the service of notices.

11.9 The accidental omission to give notice of a General Meeting to, or the non-receipt of notice of the General Meeting by, any person entitled to receive notice shall not invalidate proceedings of that General Meeting.

11.10 The following Members may give notice of a resolution that they propose to move at a General Meeting:

11.10.1 at least 5% of the Members who are entitled to vote on the resolution; or

11.10.2 at least 5 Members who are entitled to vote at a General Meeting.

11.11 The Notice must;

11.11.1 be in writing;

11.11.2 set out the wording of the proposed resolution; and

11.11.3 be signed by the Members proposing to move the resolution.

11.12 Separate copies of a document setting out the notice may be used for signing by Members if the wording of the notice is identical in each copy.

11.13 If the Company has been given notice of a resolution, the resolution is to be considered at the next General Meeting that occurs more than 1 month after the notice is given.

- 11.14 The Company must give all its Members notice of the resolution at the same time, or as soon as practicable afterwards, and in the same way as it gives notice of a General Meeting.
- 11.15 The Company is responsible for the cost of giving Members notice of the resolution if the Company receives the notice in time to send it out to Members with the notice of a General Meeting.
- 11.16 The Members requesting the General Meeting are jointly and individually liable for the expenses reasonably incurred by the Company in giving Members notice of the resolution if the Company does not receive the Member's notice in time to send it out with the notice of a General Meeting.
- 11.17 At a General Meeting the Company may resolve to meet the expenses itself.
- 11.18 The Company need not give notice of the resolution:
- 11.18.1 if it is more than 1,000 words long or defamatory; or
 - 11.18.2 if the Members making the request are to bear the expenses of sending the notice out, unless the members give the Company a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the expenses that it will reasonably incur in giving the notice.
- 11.19 Members may request the Company to give to all its Members a statement provided by the Members making the request about:
- 11.19.1 a resolution that is proposed to be moved at a General Meeting;
or
 - 11.19.2 any other matter that may be properly considered at a General Meeting.
- 11.20 The request must be made by at least 5% of the Members who are entitled to vote on the resolution.
- 11.21 The request must be:
- 11.21.1 in writing;
 - 11.21.2 signed by the Members making the request; and
 - 11.21.3 given to the Company.
- 11.22 Separate copies of a document setting out the request may be used for signing by Members if the wording of the request is identical in each copy.
- 11.23 After receiving the request, the Company must distribute to all its Members a copy of the statement at the same time, or as soon as practicable afterwards, and in the same way, as it give notice of a General Meeting.
- 11.24 The Company is responsible for the cost of making the distribution if the Company receives the statement in time to send it out to Members with the notice of a General Meeting.

- 11.25 The Members making the request are jointly and individually liable for the expenses reasonably incurred by the Company in making the distribution if the Company does not receive the statement in time to send it out with the notice of a General Meeting.
- 11.26 At a General Meeting the Company may resolve to meet the expenses itself.
- 11.27 The Company need not comply with the request;
- 11.27.1 if it is more than 1,000 words long or defamatory; or
- 11.27.2 if the Members making the request are responsible for the expenses of the distribution, unless the Members give the Company a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the expenses that it will reasonably incur in making the distribution.
-

12 PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETING

- 12.1 No business shall be transacted at any General Meeting unless a quorum of Members is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business.
- 12.2 Save as herein otherwise provided five Members present in person shall be a quorum.
- 12.3 For the purpose of this rule "Member" includes a person attending as a proxy or as representing a corporation which is a Member.
- 12.4 If within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present the meeting, if convened upon the requisition of Members shall be dissolved - in any other case it shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time and place or such other day and at such other time and place as the Board may determine.
- 12.5 If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting the Members present (being not less than three) shall be a quorum.
- 12.6 The Chairperson of the Board shall preside as Chairperson at every General Meeting of the Company or if there is no Chairperson or if the Chairperson is not present within fifteen minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or is unwilling to act then the Members present shall elect one of their Members to be Chairperson of the meeting.
- 12.7 The Chairperson may with the consent of any meeting at which a quorum is present (and shall if so directed by the meeting) adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place.
- 12.8 When a meeting is adjourned for thirty days or more notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of an original meeting.
- 12.9 At any General Meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be

decided on a show of hands unless a poll is (before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands) demanded;

12.9.1 By the Chairperson; or

12.9.2 By at least three Members present in person or by proxy.

12.10 Unless a poll is demanded a declaration by the Chairperson that a resolution has on a show of hands been carried or carried unanimously or by a particular majority or lost and an entry to that effect in the book containing the minutes of the proceedings of the Company shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution.

12.11 The demand for a poll may be withdrawn.

12.12 If a poll is demanded it shall be taken in such a manner and either at once or after an interval or adjournment or otherwise as the Chairperson directs and the result of the poll shall be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded but a poll demanded on the election of a Chairperson or on a question of adjournment shall be taken forthwith.

12.13 In the case of an equality of votes whether on a show of hands or on a poll the Chairperson of the meeting at which the show of hands takes place or at which the poll is demanded shall be entitled to a second or casting vote.

12.14 Members shall each have one vote in person or by proxy or by attorney

12.15 A Member who is of unsound mind or whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under the protective jurisdiction may vote whether on a show of hands or on a poll:

12.15.1 by his or her committee; or

12.15.2 by his or her trustee; or

12.15.3 by his or her administrator; or

12.15.4 by such other person as properly has the management of his or her estate (any such committee, trustee or other person may vote by proxy or attorney).

12.16 No Member shall be entitled to vote at any general meeting if his or her annual subscription shall be more than one months in arrears at the commencement of the meeting.

12.17 For the purposes of this rule an adjourned meeting is a continuation of the meeting not a new meeting.

13 PROXIES

13.1 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing:

13.1.1 under the hand of the appointor or of his or her attorney duly

- authorised in writing;
- 13.1.2 the instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to confer authority to demand or join in demanding a poll;
 - 13.1.3 a Member shall be entitled to instruct his or her proxy to vote in favour of or against any proposed resolutions;
 - 13.1.4 unless otherwise instructed the proxy may vote as he or she thinks fit.
- 13.2 The instrument appointing a proxy may be in any form that makes it clear that a Proxy has been appointed provided that it shall be signed by the Member making the appointment and contain at least the following information;
- 13.2.1 the Member's name and address;
 - 13.2.2 the Company's name;
 - 13.2.3 the proxy's name and address;
 - 13.2.4 the meeting at which the appointment may be used; and
 - 13.2.5 if the Member wishes to make a specific direction to the proxy as to how the proxy must vote on a particular matter then the manner in which the vote must be exercised.
- 13.3 A proxy may be a standing proxy and shall continue until the Company receives notification in writing of the termination of the proxy.
- 13.4 A later appointment revokes an earlier appointment if both appointments can only be validly exercised at the particular meeting.
- 13.5 A proxy shall only be valid for a meeting if, before the commencement of the meeting, the Company has received the proxy's appointment and if the appointment is signed by the appointor's attorney, the authority under which the appointment was signed or a certified copy of the authority.
- 13.6 The appointment of a proxy, authority or certified copy of the authority may be given to the Company by:-
- 13.6.1 delivering the same to the Company's registered office; or
 - 13.6.2 faxing the same to the facsimile number at the Company's registered office or sending it to the electronic address at the registered office of the Company or at the place, to the facsimile number or to the electronic address specified for the purpose in the notice of meeting.
- 13.7 An appointment of a proxy shall be of no effect if the Company receives either or both the appointment or authority or certified copy authority at a facsimile number or electronic address and any requirement concerning proxies in the notice of meeting that requires the transmission to be varied in a specified way or the proxy to produce the appointment and authority or certified copy of the authority at the meeting is not complied with.

- 13.8 A proxy who is not entitled to vote on a resolution as a Member may vote as a proxy for another Member who can vote as long as the appointment specified the way a person is to vote on the resolution and the proxy votes that way.
- 13.9 Unless the Company has received written notice of the matter before the start or resumption of the meeting at which a proxy votes, a vote cast by the proxy will be valid even if prior to the proxy voting;
- 13.9.1 the Member having appointed the proxy dies; or
 - 13.9.2 the Member having appointed the proxy is mentally incapacitated; or
 - 13.9.3 the Member having appointed the proxy revokes the proxy's appointment; or
 - 13.9.4 the Member having appointed the proxy revokes the authority under which the proxy was appointed by a third party; or
 - 13.9.5 the Member having appointed the proxy transfers the share or shares in respect of which the proxy was given.
- 13.10 A body corporate may appoint an individual as a representative to exercise all or any of the powers the body corporate may exercise:
- 13.11 The appointment may be for a particular meeting or for a particular period of time; or may be a standing appointment.
- 13.12 The appointment may set out any restrictions on the representative's power. If the appointment is to be by reference to a position held, the appointment must identify the position,
- 13.13 A body corporate may appoint more than one representative but only one representative may exercise the body's powers at any one time.
- 13.14 Unless otherwise specified in the appointment the representative may exercise on the body corporate's behalf all of the powers that the body corporate could exercise at a meeting or in voting on a resolution.

14 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- 14.1 The Board of Directors (The Board) shall comprise no less than 4 and no more than 8 members who shall serve for a term of 3 years but shall be eligible for re-election.
- 14.2 The office bearers of the Company shall consist of a Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, Secretary and Treasurer all of whom shall be appointed by the Members.
- 14.3 The persons named in the Schedule to these rules shall constitute the first Board of Directors.
- 14.3.1 the first named 2 Directors must retire at the commencement of the second Annual General Meeting but shall be eligible for re-

election; and

14.3.2 the second named 2 Directors must retire at the commencement of the third Annual General Meeting but shall be eligible for re-election.

14.4 The election of Directors shall take place in the following manner:-

14.4.1 any two Members of the Company shall be at liberty to nominate any other Member to serve as a Director;

14.4.2 the nomination, which shall be in writing, and signed by the Member and the proposer and seconder and shall be lodged with the Secretary at least fourteen days before the Annual General Meeting at which the election is to take place;

14.4.3 a list of candidates' names in alphabetical order with the proposers' and seconds' names shall be posted in a conspicuous place in the registered office of the Company for at least seven days immediately preceding the Annual General Meeting;

14.4.4 balloting lists shall be prepared (if necessary) containing the names of the candidates only. The names shall be in alphabetical order. Each Member present at the Annual General Meeting shall be entitled to vote for any number of such candidates not exceeding the number of vacancies; and

14.4.5 in case there shall not be a sufficient number of candidates nominated the Board may fill up the remaining vacancy or vacancies.

14.5 The Company may from time to time, by resolution passed at a General Meeting, increase or reduce the number of Directors.

14.6 The Board (or such Directors as shall hold office at the relevant time) shall have the power at any time and from time to time to appoint any Member as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing office-bearers or other Directors but so that the total number of office-bearers and other Directors shall not at any time exceed the number fixed in accordance with these rules. Any Director so appointed shall hold office until the commencement of the Annual General Meeting at which the Director whose place the appointee fills become vacant by application of the rotation created by these Rules, but shall be eligible for re-election.

14.7 The Company may by Ordinary resolution of which special notice has been given, remove any Director before the expiration of his or her term of office and may by an ordinary resolution appoint another person in his or her stead. The person so appointed shall hold office until the Annual General Meeting at which the Director whose place the appointee fills becomes vacant by application of the rotation of Directors created by these rules but shall be eligible for re-election.

14.8 The position of a person as a Director and that person's office as a Director shall cease and become vacant if he or she:-

14.8.1 dies; or

- 14.8.2 resigns by notice in writing; or
 - 14.8.3 is disqualified from acting as Director as a consequence of any provision of the Act; or
 - 14.8.4 becomes mentally ill or his or her affairs comes under the protective jurisdiction; or
 - 14.8.5 becomes bankrupt or makes an assignment to or composition with his or her creditors.
- 14.9 No proceedings of the Board shall be invalidated by reason of the fact that a Director takes part in a meeting or votes on a resolution of the Board whilst disqualified unless the other Directors at the meeting knew of or could reasonably have known of the disqualification.

15 POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD

- 15.1 The Company must be managed by or under the direction of and controlled by the Board.
- 15.2 The Board has and may exercise any of the functions conferred or imposed on it by or under this Constitution.
- 15.3 Without prejudice to and without limiting the powers conferred by this Constitution, the Board shall have the power to do any of the following:-
- 15.3.1 open and maintain a bank account or bank accounts to be operated by such person or persons, whether Directors or not, as it shall from time to time determine;
 - 15.3.2 appoint any staff as may be necessary;
 - 15.3.3 employ and superannuate officers and employees;
 - 15.3.4 review staff positions at intervals not exceeding 5 years;
 - 15.3.5 publish and distribute information concerning this Constitution and the regulations to Members and other interested persons;
 - 15.3.6 do all such other things that are in the opinion of the Board incidental to or conducive to the attainment of the objects of the Company;
 - 15.3.7 do all things necessary to give effect to the powers contained in this Constitution;
 - 15.3.8 do all such things as may be permitted by the Act.
- 15.4 The Directors may, by power of attorney, appoint any person or persons to be the attorney or attorneys of the Company for such purposes, with such powers, authorities and discretions (being powers, authorities and discretions vested in or exercisable by the Directors) for such period and subject to such conditions as

they think fit.

- 15.5 Any such power of attorney may contain such provisions for the protection and convenience of persons dealing with the attorney as the Directors think appropriate and may also authorize the attorney to delegate all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions vested in that person.
- 15.6 All acts done by any meeting of the Board or of a committee of the Board or by any person acting as a Director are valid even though it is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of a person to be a Director or a member of the committee, or to act as a Director, or that a person was so appointed was disqualified.
- 15.7 The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money and to mortgage or charge its property or any part thereof and to issue debentures and other securities whether outright or as security for any debt liability or obligation of the Company.
- 15.8 All cheques promissory notes drafts bills of exchange and other negotiable instruments and all receipts for money paid to the Company shall be signed drawn accepted endorsed or otherwise executed as the case may be by any two Directors or in such other manner as the Board from time to time determines.
- 15.9 The Board shall cause minutes to be made:
- 15.9.1 of all appointments of officers and employees; and
 - 15.9.2 of the names of the Directors present at all meetings of the Company and of the Board; and of all proceedings at all meetings of the Company and of the Board. Such minutes shall be signed by the Chairperson of the meeting at which the proceedings were held or by the Chairperson of the next succeeding meeting.

16 PROCEEDINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- 16.1 The Board may meet together for the dispatch of business adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as it thinks fit.
- 16.2 A Director may at any time and the person performing the duties of Secretary to the Board shall on the requisition of a Director convene a meeting of the Board.
- 16.3 Subject to these Rules questions arising at any meeting of the Board shall be decided by a majority of votes and a determination by a majority of the Directors present shall for all purposes be deemed a determination of the Board.
- 16.4 In case of an equality of votes the Chairperson of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.
- 16.5 The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the Board shall be a majority of the total number of Directors or such greater number as may be fixed by the Directors.

- 16.6 The continuing Directors may act notwithstanding any vacancy in the Board.
- 16.7 If and so long as their number is reduced below the number fixed as the quorum the continuing Director or Directors may act for the purpose of increasing the number of Directors to that number or of convening a General Meeting of the Company but for no other purpose.
- 16.8 The Chairperson shall preside as Chairperson at every meeting of the Board.
- 16.9 If there is no Chairperson or if at any meeting he or she is not present within fifteen minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting or if being present is unwilling to preside the Vice Chairperson shall be Chairperson or if the Vice Chairperson is not present at the meeting then the Directors may choose one of their number to be Chairperson of the meeting.
- 16.10 The Board may delegate any of its powers and or functions (not being duties imposed on the Board as the Directors of the Company by the Law) to one or more committees consisting of such Member or Members of the Company as the Board thinks fit and:
- 16.10.1 any committee so formed must comply with any regulation that may be given by the Board;
 - 16.10.2 subject thereto any shall have the power to co-opt any Member or Members of the Company; and
 - 16.10.3 all members of such committees shall have one vote.
- 16.11 The Board may appoint one or more advisory committees consisting of such member or members of the Board and such other persons as the Board thinks fit and:
- 16.11.1 such advisory committees shall act in an advisory capacity only;
 - 16.11.2 must comply with any regulations that may be given by the Board;
 - 16.11.3 shall have power to co-opt any other Member or Members of the Company;
 - 16.11.4 all members of such advisory committees shall have one vote.
- 16.12 Every committee or advisory committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper.
- 16.12.1 questions arising at any meeting shall be determined by a majority of votes of the members present; and
 - 16.12.2 in the case of an equality of votes the Chairperson shall have a second or casting vote.
- 16.13 All acts done by any meeting of the Board or a committee or by any Director shall notwithstanding that it is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of the committee or Director or that the Directors or any of them were disqualified be as valid as if every such person had been duly appointed and was qualified to be a Director or committee member.

- 16.14 A resolution in writing signed by all Directors for the time being entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the Board shall be as valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Board duly convened and held. Any such resolution may consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more Directors.

17 SEAL

- 17.1 Unless the Directors make a determination to the contrary, the Company shall not have a common seal.
- 17.2 A document shall be validly executed and shall be binding upon the Company if it is signed by any 2 Directors.
- 17.3 The Directors may at any time determine that the Company shall have a common seal.
- 17.4 The Directors shall provide for the safe custody of the seal and shall only use the seal by the authority of the Directors or of a committee of the Directors authorised by the Directors to authorise the use of the seal.
- 17.5 The affixing of the seal shall be sufficient and shall bind the Company if it shall be affixed in the presence of one Director who shall sign every instrument to which the seal is affixed and every such instrument shall be counter-signed by another Director.
- 17.6 Directors may affix the seal to or sign any instrument on behalf of the Company not withstanding that the Directors may be in any way interested in the transaction.

18 ACCOUNTS

- 18.1 The Board shall cause proper accounting and other records to be kept and shall distribute copies of every profit and loss account and balance sheet (including every document required by law to be attached thereto) accompanied by a copy of the Auditors report as required by the Law to every Member.
- 18.2 The Board shall cause to be made out and laid before each Annual General Meeting a balance sheet and profit and loss account made up to the end of the Company's financial year but in no case shall that date be more than five months before the date of the meeting.
- 18.3 The Board shall from time to time determine at what times and places and under what conditions or regulations the accounting and other records of the Company shall be open to the inspection of Members provided that all Members shall have reasonable opportunity to inspect those records.

19 AUDIT

- 19.1 A properly qualified Auditor or Auditors shall be appointed and his, her or their duties regulated in accordance with the Law.

20 NOTICES

- 20.1 A notice may be given by the Company to any Member either:
- 20.1.1 personally; or
 - 20.1.2 by sending it by post to the Member at the Member's registered office or the address if any supplied by the Member to the Company for giving of notices to the Member; or
 - 20.1.3 to any address given by the Member to the Company for the delivery of facsimile messages or messages transmitted by electronic or like means.
- 20.2 Where a notice is sent by post, service of the notice shall be deemed to be effected by properly addressing pre-paying and posting a letter containing the notice and to have been effected (except in the case of a notice of a meeting) at the time at which the letter would be delivered in the ordinary course of post.
- 20.3 In the case of a facsimile notice or an electronic notice (except in the case of a notice of meeting) to be effected by properly addressing the facsimile or notice to the electronic address and dispatching the same by the appropriate electronic means and to have been effected four hours after the time of transmission.
- 20.4 Any notice by a court of law or otherwise required or allowed to be given by the Company to Members or any of them by advertisement shall be sufficiently advertised if advertised once in one daily newspaper circulating in the State or Territory capital city and metropolitan area of the State or Territory in which a majority of the Members have a registered address and in case of joint holders shall be the address of the joint holder who is first named on the Register of Members.

21 INDEMNITY

- 21.1 Subject to the provisions of the Act every Director, Secretary, Manager or officer of the Company or any person employed by the Company as Auditor shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against all liability incurred by such person as a Director, Manager, Secretary, Officer or Auditor in defending any proceedings whether civil or criminal in which judgement is given in the persons favour or in which the person is acquitted or in connection with any application under the Act in which relief is granted to the person by a court,
- 21.2 Subject to the Act no Director or Auditor of the Company shall be liable for the acts, receipts, neglect or defaults of any other Director or for joining in any receipt or other act for conformity or for any loss or expense happening to the Company through the inefficiency or deficiency of title to any property acquired by order of the Directors or on behalf of the Company or for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security in or upon which any of the monies of the Company shall be invested or for any loss or damage arising from the bankruptcy insolvency or tortious act of any person with whom any monies securities or effects shall be deposited or for

any loss occasioned by any error of judgement omission default or oversight on the persons part or for any other loss damage or misfortune whatsoever which shall happen in relation to those things unless the same shall happen through the persons own negligence default breach of duty breach of trust or dishonesty.

- 21.3 To the extent permitted by law the Company may pay, or agree to pay a premium in respect of a contract insuring a person who is or has been an Officer of the Company against liability incurred by the person in his or her capacity as an officer of the Company provided that the liability does not arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company or a contravention of the Act.

22 MEDIATION

- 22.1 In the event that a dispute shall arise between the Directors or between the Directors and a Member or between the Members or between the Company and a Member concerning the affairs of the Company, the parties must attempt to resolve the dispute by mediation as follows;

22.1.1 Either party may start mediation by serving a mediation notice on the other;

22.1.2 The notice must state that a dispute has arisen and identify what is in dispute.

22.1.3 The parties must jointly appoint a Mediator. If the parties fail to agree on the appointment within 7 days of service of the notice, a Mediator will be appointed by the Secretary for the time being of the Law Institute or Law Society (as the case requires) of the State or Territory in which the Company has its registered office upon the application of either party.

22.1.4 The parties must observe the instructions of the Mediator about the conduct of the mediation, execute any written agreements that the Mediator may reasonably ask them to execute and make a genuine and determined effort to resolve the dispute.

22.1.5 If the dispute is not resolved within 14 days after the Mediator is appointed or any other time that the parties are agreed to in writing, the mediation ceases.

22.1.6 The Directors and the Members must as far as is reasonably practicable and provided to do so is not in breach of the Law maintain the status quo concerning the affairs of the Company whilst the mediation process is taking place.

22.1.7 No request for arbitration may be made nor any application made to a court of law except in the case that the status quo concerning the affairs of the Company is not maintained until such time as the parties have attended a mediation meeting.

22.1.8 Each party must pay an equal share of the cost of mediation to the Mediator.

22.1.9 If the dispute is resolved, each party must sign the terms of the agreement and the terms are binding on the parties.

22.1.10 The mediation procedure is confidential and written statements prepared for the Mediator or for a party and any discussions between the parties and between the parties and the Mediator before or during the mediation procedure cannot be used in any legal proceedings. The Mediator shall destroy any notes made during the mediation at the end of the mediation.

23 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

23.1 A Chief Executive Officer may be employed by the Board for such term and upon such conditions as the Board may from time to time determine.

23.2 The Chief Executive Officer has and may exercise such functions as are conferred or imposed on the Chief Executive Officer by the Board

23.3 The Board may, from time to time, appoint a person to act as Chief Executive Officer during the illness or absence of the Chief Executive Officer and the person, while so acting, has and may exercise all of the functions of the Chief Executive Officer and is taken to be Chief Executive Officer.

23.4 The Chief Executive Officer may delegate to a person the exercise of:

23.4.1 any of the functions of the Chief Executive Officer under this Constitution other than this power of delegation; or

23.4.2 any functions delegated to the Chief Executive Officer by the Board, unless the Board otherwise provides in its instrument of delegation ,

23.5 The Chief Executive Officer shall have power to enter into Contracts binding the Company up to a value that shall from time to time be determined by the Board. In the absence of a determination the value shall be unlimited.

24 BY-LAWS AND REGULATIONS

24.1 The Company may at a General Meeting pass a resolution (not being a Special Resolution) making, altering or revoking a by-law or regulation dealing with:

24.1.1 the rights or obligations of Members; or

24.1.2 other matters which are not specified in this Constitution or the Act.

24.2 A by-law or regulation which, directly or indirectly, is inconsistent with a provision of this Constitution or the Act is invalid.

24.3 A copy of every alteration or addition made to the by-laws or regulations is to be sent to every Member at their last known address.

- 24.4 The omission, unless wilfully made, to send a copy or the non-receipt of it does not invalidate the alteration or addition.
- 24.5 The Board is the sole authority for interpreting the by-laws and regulations.
-

25 DISSOLUTION AND WINDING UP

- 25.1 If upon the dissolution or winding-up of the Company there remains, after the satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities, any property whatever, the same shall not be paid to or distributed amongst the Members but shall be given or transferred to some other fund, authority or institution:
- 25.1.1 having objects similar to the objects of the Company;
 - 25.1.2 which prohibits the distribution of its income and property to a similar extent to that imposed on the Company by this Constitution; and
 - 25.1.3 which is approved by the Commissioner of Taxation as a fund, authority or institution contemplated above.
- 25.2 If just before the winding-up of the Company, the Company is an entity to which income tax deductible gifts can be made or a prior winding-up of the Separate Gift Fund or upon the Company ceasing to be endorsed as a deductible gift recipient pursuant to the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (if it has been) whichever event shall occur first in time any surplus assets of the Company or the separate Gift Fund as the case may require, remaining after the payment of the Company's liabilities shall be transferred to another fund, authority or institution in Australia which have similar objects to the Company and which is body that may receive tax deductible gifts under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. Where gifts to the Company are deductible only if among other things the conditions set out in the relevant table item of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 are satisfied a transfer under this rule must be made in accordance with those conditions.
-

26 SEPARATE GIFT FUND

- 26.1 If the purposes of the Company include a charitable purpose permitting the Company to be an entity to which tax deductible gifts can be made then the Company must set up, establish and maintain for that purpose a Separate Gift Fund into which all gifts of money or property gifted for the charitable purpose are to be made and into which any money received by the Company by reason of such gifts is to be credited.
- 26.2 No money or property other than the property or money gifted to the Company for the charitable purpose and in particular (charitable gifts) may be paid into the Separate Gift Fund.
- 26.3 The Company must use —
- 26.3.1 gifts made to the Gift Fund; and
 - 26.3.2 any money received because of such gifts —

only for the charitable purpose.

- 26.4 All receipts for gifts to the Separate Gift Fund must be issued in the name of the Company and must include —
- 26.4.1 the name of the Company and the purpose for which the gift is applied; and
 - 26.4.2 the fact that the receipt is for a gift; and
 - 26.4.3 the Australian Business Number of the Company.

27 INCONSISTANT WITH CORPORATIONS ACT

- 27.1 In the event that any of these Rules shall be inconsistent with or in breach of any of the provisions of the Act then these Rules shall be read down to the extent that they shall comply with the Law and any Rule that is inconsistent with or in breach of the provisions of the Law shall be deemed to be struck out and shall not form part of these Rules.
- 27.2 In the event that the provisions of the Act permits an act to be done, a decision to be made or a meeting to be held in a way that is more convenient for the Company or the Directors or is more favourable to the Members or the Directors than as required or permitted by these Rules then the Directors may but shall not be obliged so to do (unless the Law so requires) to make the decision, take the action, give the notice or hold the meeting or do the particular thing as is permitted and in the time and in the manner permitted by the Law.

28 LIQUOR CONTROL LAWS

- 28.1 So long as the Company holds a club or similar licence under any relevant Liquor Control Law the Secretary must within 14 days from an alteration of this Constitution forward to the Chief Executive Officer of the Liquor Licensing Authority or other proper person a certified copy of the alteration and any other material as may be required by any relevant regulation. Any alteration to these rules is not effective until 28 days after the certified copy is given to the Chief Executive Officer (or other proper person).
- 28.2 No payment of any amount may be made to the Secretary, or any officer, manager or employee of the Company as commission or allowance from the receipts of the Company for the sale or disposal of liquor.
- 28.3 A Member may admit visitors to the licensed premises on the terms and subject to any relevant regulation and to the restrictions the Board from time to time determines.
- 28.4 No visitor to the licensed premises may be supplied with liquor unless the visitor is a guest in the Company of a Member.
- 28.5 A Member admitting a visitor to the licensed premises must immediately enter the visitor's name and address in a book to be kept for that purpose at the principal entrance to the licensed premises.

29 INTERPRETATION

29.1 In this Constitution unless there be something in the subject or context inconsistent then the following words and expressions shall have the following meanings;

"The Act" shall mean the Corporations Act in force from time to time and any reference to a section of the Act or a section of the law shall mean a reference to the Corporations Act and the particular section of the Corporations Act.

"The Company" shall mean the Company named in the Schedule.

"Directors" and **"Board"** shall mean all or any number of the Directors for the time being of the Company acting in accordance of these Rules.

"Member" shall mean any person for the time being registered as a member of the Company.

"Office" or **"Registered Office"** shall mean the registered office for the time being of the Company.

"Paid" shall mean paid or credited as paid.

"The Register" shall mean the register of Member's charges and other information required by the Act.

"Registered Holder" shall mean any person for the time being registered in the register as the holder of any share of the Company.

"These Rules" and **"Rules"** shall mean the Rules forming part of the Company's Constitution as originally adopted or as from time to time added to or amended.

"The Seal" or **"The Common Seal"** shall mean the common seal of the Company (if any).

"The Secretary" shall mean and include the Secretary and any assistant or acting Secretary and any other person for the time being appointed to perform whether alone or in addition to any other person or persons the duties of a Secretary of the Company.

"Signature" shall mean the impression of a mark by hand facsimile mechanical electronic or other means which is properly authorised by the person purported to have signed the document, signed shall mean the result of a signature produced by any means defined above.

"Special Resolution" shall have the meaning assigned to that expression by the Act,

"In Writing" and **"Written"** shall include printing and lithography and other modes of reproducing or representing words in a visible form and shall include electronic means provided the same can be recorded in a permanent form.

29.2 Words or expressions contained in these Rules shall be interpreted in accordance

with the provisions of the law as in force at the date of which such interpretation is required.

29.3 In these Rules unless a different intention appears:

29.3.1 words importing a singular number only shall include plural number and vice versa;

29.3.2 words importing one gender only shall include the other gender;

29.3.3 words importing persons shall include companies and corporations.

29.4 Any heading or marginal note inserted in these Rules is included for convenience only and shall not affect the construction of these Rules.

30 ADOPTION AND AMENDMENTS OF CONSTITUTION

30.1 The Members may amend or repeal this Constitution, or a provision of this Constitution, by special resolution passed at either an Annual General Meeting or at an Extraordinary General Meeting.

30.2 A notice of the proposed alterations must be provided by properly addressing, prepaying and posting a letter to every Member at least 30 days prior to the date of the meeting.

30.3 A special resolution amending, adopting or repealing this Constitution takes effect:

30.3.1 if no later date is specified in the resolution, then on the date on which the resolution is passed; or

30.3.2 on a later date specified in, or determined in accordance with, the resolution.

30.4 The Company must send off a copy of this Constitution (as amended from time to time) to a Member within 7 days if the Member:

30.4.1 asks the Company, in writing for the copy; and

30.4.2 pays any fee (up to the prescribed amount) required by the Company.

SCHEDULE

Part 1

- 1 The Name of the Company is: ACNxxxxx Limited
- 2 The Particular interests that the Company proposes to promote are:

Hunters Code of Practice

- a) **Awareness of relevant legislation**
It is your responsibility as a licence holder to be aware of and comply with all relevant legislation relating to hunting, animal welfare and the use of firearms.
- b) **Safe handling of firearms**
If you are using firearms, you must comply with the rules for safe handling, set out in the NSW Firearms Safety Awareness handbook, at all times.
- c) **Permission required to enter land**
Your licence **does not** automatically authorise you to hunt on any land. You must not hunt on any land unless you hold the express authority (permission) of the landowner.
- d) **Target identification and safety**
You must not fire at a game or pest animal unless it can be clearly seen and identified. The shot taken must not pose any discernible risk of injury to any person or damage to any property.
- e) **Obligation to avoid suffering**
An animal being hunted must not be inflicted with unnecessary pain. To achieve a humane death, you must:
- i. target the animal so that a humane kill is likely;
 - ii. shoot within the reasonably accepted killing range of the firearm, ammunition or bow; and
 - iii. always use hunting equipment (firearm and ammunition, bow and arrow), that can be reasonably expected to humanely kill the animal you are targeting.
- f) **Lactating female with dependent young**
If you harvest a lactating female, every reasonable effort must be made to locate and kill any dependent young.
- g) **Wounded animals**
If an animal is wounded, you must take all reasonable steps to locate it so that it can be killed quickly and humanely.
- h) **Use of dogs**
Dogs and other animals may be used to you, but only if:
- i. their use is not in contravention to the *Prevention of Cruelty to Animals Act 1979*; and
 - ii. their use is with the permission of the occupier of the land concerned.

Part 2

- 3 The names and addresses of the Members registering the Company are:

Graham Malcolm Park 791 North Branch Road, Goomburra, Qld 4362

David Cameron Charles Brown	9 Hopkins Street, Petrie, Qld, 4502
Janet Ruth Linsley	61 Arthur Street, Dalby, Qld, 4405
Scott Robert Geelan	Lot 151 Dan Street, Chuwar, Qld 4306
Ross Bruce Grantham	40 Glenwood Place, Moggill, Qld 4070
George Tetley	21 Breeana Court, Mudgeeraba, Qld 4213
Ian Ross Eiser	8 Opal Street, Glenvale, Qld, 4350
William Mabry	140 Manson Road, Hendra, Qld 4011
Mark Nicholas Costello	161 Madeline Drive, Morayfield, Qld 4506

Part 3

4 The first Board of Directors and Office Bearers of the Company are:

Scott Robert Geelan	Secretary
David Cameron Charles Brown	Vice Chairperson
Graham Malcolm Park	Chairperson
Janet Ruth Linsley	Treasurer
